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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION                
GREAT GRIZZLY, INC. ) 
Plaintiff, ) 
 )  
v. )  

      )  Case No. 1:20-cv-1898 
WINCO FIREWORKS, INC., )  

WINCO FIREWORKS INTERNATIONAL, LLC ) 

Defendants. ) 

COMPLAINT FOR TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

AND RELATED CLAIMS 

Comes now the Plaintiff, Great Grizzly, Inc. ("Plaintiff") by its President, Richard B. 

Shields, and counsel, John H. Brooke, Brooke Stevens, PC and for its Complaint against 

Defendant, Winco Fireworks, Inc. and Winco Fireworks International, LLC, ("Winco 

Defendants"), and alleges and states as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

1. This is an action for trademark infringement, trademark dilution, false designation of 

origin, and unfair competition, under inter alia, the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051, et seq.; and 

state common law. 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 

and 1338 and 15 U.S.C. § 1121. In addition, jurisdiction exists under 28 U.S.C. § 1332. The Court 

has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1367(a) and 

1338(b). 

3. Venue is proper under, inter alia, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400 in that, on information 

and belief, all of the Defendants conduct business, in the District and the Winco Defendants 
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maintains retail consumer fireworks stores or their agent(s) are subject to personal jurisdiction 

in the district. 

4. This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because of 

Defendants' systematic contacts with and purposeful availment of this forum. Specifically, 

and without limitation, Winco Defendants sell, offer for sale, and market the subject 

infringing goods in this judicial district directly at locations in Clarksville, Indianapolis and 

through customers that purchase consumer fireworks for resale in Indiana. 

5. Licensing Defendants have entered into a license agreement to allow companies to 

market and sell consumer fireworks devices that have the infringing name on the devices in 

Indiana and throughout the United States. 

THE PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff, Great Grizzly, Inc. is an Indiana corporation with its principal place of business 

located at 1500 East Washington St., Muncie, IN  47305.  The President of the Plaintiff corporation 

is Richard B. Shields. 

7. Defendant, Winco Fireworks, Inc. is a Kansas corporation with its principal place of business 

at 12521 15th Street, Grandview, MO 60430 according to the records of the Kansas Secretary of 

State.  

8. David Collar is the CEO of Winco Fireworks, Inc. as of the most recent filing with the Kansas 

Secretary of State and Mike Collar is the President. 

9. Defendant, Winco Fireworks International, LLC is a Kansas limited liability corporation 

with its principal place of business at 5200 West 94th Terrace, Suite 114, Prairie Village, Kansas 

66207 according to the records of the Kansas Secretary of State.  

10. Winco Fireworks, Inc. is a member of the Winco Fireworks International, LLC owning 5% 
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or more of the limited liability corporation according to the December 2019 annual report filed with 

the Kansas Secretary of State. 

11. Defendants operate fireworks wholesale businesses and have for many years held certificate 

of compliance licenses with the Indiana State Fire Marshal. 

12. Defendants also operate retail locations for the sale of consumer fireworks under the name 

“Pyro City” in Indiana and many other states in the United States. 

13. Plaintiff is a consumer fireworks importer, wholesaler and retailer that has been in business 

in Indiana for over 50 years. 

14. Plaintiff has several registered trademarks and also has a trademark that is registered with 

the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), registration number 2329220 for the 

name “PREDATOR”. 

15. Attached as Exhibit 1 is a true and accurate copy of the registration approval from USPTO. 

16. The Plaintiff’s registered mark in been in continuous use and in commerce since 1999. 

17. The Registrations have become incontestable pursuant to § 15 of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1065. 

18. The Registrations are prima facie evidence of the validity of the Registrations, Plaintiff Great 

Grizzly, Inc. ownership of the PREDATOR Mark, and Great Grizzly’s exclusive right to use the 

PREDATOR Mark in commerce in connection with the goods specified in the Registrations. The 

Registrations are also constructive notice of Great Grizzly, Inc.’s ownership of the PREDATOR 

Mark for consumer fireworks. 

19. Plaintiffs have been using the PREDATOR Mark in commerce in connection with 

consumer fireworks. Plaintiff has developed a national customer base. 

20. The PREDATOR Mark has become widely recognized for high quality, and fantastic 
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effects and superior performance and has developed extensive goodwill. 

21. The PREDATOR Mark is associated with Plaintiffs as an indication of origin of high 

quality and the PREDATOR Mark is a highly valuable asset of Plaintiff. 

22. Winco Defendants are in the business of offering and selling consumer fireworks at 

wholesale and retail to customers all over the United States. 

23. On information and belief, each Defendant is the agent, servant, employee, principal, 

successor, alter ego, and/or partner of each other Defendant, acting within the course and scope 

of such capacities and with the permission and consent of each other in doing the acts and 

engaging in the conduct alleged herein. 

24. On information and belief, Winco Defendants have manufactured, copied, reproduced, 

sold, offered for sale, publicly displayed, distributed, and/or imported products which infringe 

the PREDATOR Mark. 

 

25. Plaintiff informed Winco Defendants of the Registration and demanded that Defendants cease 

and desist their infringement, but they failed to do so. 
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26. None of the Defendants are not, and have never been, authorized by Plaintiff to use the 

PREDATOR Mark or any mark confusingly similar to the PREDATOR Mark for consumer 

fireworks items only. 

27. The use by Winco Defendants of the PREDATOR mark is likely to cause confusion and to 

deceive the public into believing that Winco Defendants are affiliated or connected with, or are 

authorized or endorsed by Plaintiff. 

28. All of the Defendants have actual knowledge of and are willfully infringing Plaintiff’s 

rights in the PREDATOR Mark for consumer fireworks devices only, as evidenced by their use of 

the PREDATOR name on consumer fireworks devices throughout the United States of America. 

29. As a result of the aforesaid acts of Defendants, Plaintiff has suffered and continue to suffer 

substantial damages and irreparable injury. 

30. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law and, unless Defendants are restrained and enjoined by 

this Court, said acts will continue to cause damage and irreparable injury to Plaintiff and to its goodwill 

and business reputation. 

31. Plaintiff cannot ascertain the precise amount of its damages at this time. 

COUNT I 

FEDERAL TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

 

32.  The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 31 

inclusive. 

33. Notwithstanding Plaintiffs' right, title, and interest in connection with the PREDATOR Mark 

and the associated goodwill, Defendants have continued to sell and offer for sale confusingly-similar 

goods with actual and/or constructive knowledge and/or reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s rights. 

34. On information and belief, Defendants have purposefully and willfully used the 

PREDATOR mark for consumer fireworks only to confuse the public into believing their products 
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were or are endorsed by or connected to Plaintiff, and/or to misappropriate Plaintiff’s registered 

PREDATOR Mark for consumer fireworks devices through their use of the Internet and through 

their selling of goods in interstate commerce. 

35. Defendants' use of the infringing PREDATOR mark in selling and advertising their 

consumer fireworks products is likely to cause confusion, mistake, and deception among consumers 

as to the source, affiliation, connection, association, origin, or approval of the goods and falsely 

suggest a sponsorship, connection, license, affiliation or association between Plaintiffs and 

Defendants, in violation of Lanham Act § 32, 15 U.S.C. § 1114. 

36. Winco Defendants have a history of unlawfully using other company’s marks on its products 

without permission or approval of the trademark owner. 

37. Defendants' continued use of their infringing mark has injured Plaintiffs, and if permitted 

to continue, will further injure Plaintiffs by damaging their reputation and causing additional 

monetary damages. 

38. The Defendants have acted in concert to promote and conduct themselves for the purpose 

of trading on the goodwill and name associated with the PREDATOR mark of the Plaintiff. 

39. Defendants' continued and knowing use of their infringing mark, or their reckless disregard, 

constitutes willful and/or intentional infringement and unfair competition, and this case is therefore 

exceptional under the Lanham Act. 

40. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and, if Defendants are not enjoined, Plaintiffs 

will suffer substantial irreparable harm and injury to their goodwill and reputation. 

41. Plaintiffs cannot ascertain the precise amount of their damages at this time, but they are 

entitled to recovery of monetary damages, including, but not limited to, actual damages, treble 

damages, reasonable attorneys' fees, and costs; Plaintiffs are also entitled to recover Defendants' ill-
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gotten profits.  

42. The acts of the Winco defendants may also be considered willful, intentional and/or grossly 

negligent in the misappropriation of the mark owned by the Plaintiff. 

COUNT II 

FEDERAL TRADEMARK DILUTION 

 

43. The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 42 

inclusive. 

44. Plaintiff’s PREDATOR Mark is "famous" within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(1) and 

was famous prior to Winco Defendants' wrongful conduct alleged herein. 

45. Defendants' use in commerce of the infringing consumer fireworks goods dilutes the 

distinctive quality of Plaintiff’s PREDATOR Mark and was done with willful intent or to 

otherwise trade on Plaintiff’s reputation and thereby caused the dilution of Plaintiff’s mark. 

46. Defendants acted in knowing and willful violation, or in reckless disregard, of Plaintiff’s 

rights under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c). 

47. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law and, if Defendants are not enjoined, then Plaintiff 

will suffer irreparable harm and injury to its goodwill and reputation. 

48. Plaintiff cannot ascertain the precise amount of its damages at this time, but Plaintiff is entitled 

to recovery of monetary damages, including, but not limited to, actual damages, treble damages, 

reasonable attorneys' fees, and costs; Plaintiff is also entitled to recover Defendants' ill-gotten profits. 

COUNT III 
FALSE DESIGNATION OF ORIGIN 

AND UNFAIR COMPETITION 
 

49. The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 48 

inclusive. 

50. Defendants' actions in adopting, marketing, reproducing, publicly displaying, selling, offering 
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to sell, and/or distributing infringing versions of the PREDATOR Mark in interstate commerce on 

consumer fireworks devices without Plaintiff's consent constitutes unfair competition and false 

designation of origin in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) and has caused, and continues to cause, a 

substantial effect on interstate commerce in that a likelihood of confusion, mistake, and deception 

exists in the minds of the consuming public as to the source, sponsorship, affiliation, and/or 

connection of Defendants' infringing goods. 

51. By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff has been injured in an amount to be proven. In addition, 

as a result of Defendants' unlawful acts, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable 

harm, and Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law with respect to this injury. Unless the acts of 

Defendants are enjoined by the Court, Plaintiff will continue to suffer such harm. 

52. Defendants' actions have been knowing, intentional, wanton, and willful, or done with 

reckless disregard of Plaintiffs' rights, entitling Plaintiffs to damages, treble damages, ill-gotten 

profits, reasonable attorneys' fees, statutory damages, and the costs of this action. 

COUNT IV 

COMMON LAW UNFAIR COMPETITION 

 

53. The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 52 

inclusive. 

54. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Defendants have been passing off 

their consumer fireworks goods and services as those of Plaintiff, and have been using Plaintiff’s 

intellectual property to promote their own goods and services. 

55. Plaintiff alleges that they have thereby sustained damage to their reputation, goodwill, and 

sales, in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT V 

DECEPTIVE CONSUMER PRACTICES 
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56. The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 55 

inclusive. 

57. The Defendant committed a deceptive act during all transactions involving the PREDATOR 

mark by misrepresenting to customers and trying to deceive them to believe that the device they were 

selling was somehow tied to the Plaintiff’s device that has been in the market for many years. 

58. The Defendant has violated Indiana Code 24-5-0.5-3(b)(1) by allowing consumers to 

conclude that the Plaintiff has given approval to Defendant to use the PREDATOR trademark when 

the Defendant knows that the Plaintiff has not done that.  

59. Plaintiff cannot ascertain the precise amount of its damages at this time, but Plaintiff is entitled 

to recovery of monetary damages, including, but not limited to, actual damages, treble damages, 

reasonable attorneys' fees, and costs 

COUNT VI 

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP 

60. The preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference in paragraphs 1 through 57 

inclusive. 

61. A business relationship, and an expectancy of business relationships, exists between Great 

Grizzly and authorized dealers of Great Grizzly firework devices. 

62. A business relationship, and an expectancy of business relationships, exists between Great 

Grizzly and authorized retailers of Great Grizzly firework devices. 

63. A business relationship, and an expectancy of business relationships, exists between Great 

Grizzly and its customers and prospective customers. 

64. There is a high probability of future economic benefit to Great Grizzly as a result of these 

current and prospective business relationships. 

65. Defendants have knowledge of and have intentionally and unjustifiably interfered with these 
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current and prospective business relationships between Great Grizzly, authorized dealers and retailers 

who sell Great Grizzly firework devices, and legitimate Great Grizzly customers and prospective 

customers. 

66. Defendants knew that Plaintiff has business relationships, and an expectancy of business 

relationships, with legitimate consumers of Great Grizzly firework devices. Defendants interfered 

with these relationships by engaging in their utilizing the Plaintiff’s PREDATOR trademark and 

causing confusion to the legitimate consumers wanting Plaintiff’s PREDATOR firework device. 

67. Defendants intentionally interfere with Plaintiff’s business relationships through improper 

means and in violation of the law. 

68. Defendants engaged in the acts of interference set forth herein with a conscious desire to 

prevent the relationships from occurring or continuing, or Defendants knew that the interference was 

certain or substantially certain to occur as a result of their conduct. 

69. Plaintiff has been proximately damaged and continues to be damaged as a result of 

Defendants’ interference. 

70. There is no adequate remedy at law to fully compensate Plaintiff for the harm caused by 

Defendants’ tortious interference. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHERERFORE, Plaintiff, Great Grizzly, Inc., pray for the entry of a judgment from this 

Court: 

(A)    That Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees, assignees, 

transferees, successors, attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the Court's order, be preliminarily and 

permanently enjoined from: 
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i. using the PREDATOR Mark or any variation of the term 

"PREDATOR," in connection with the promotion, marketing, advertising, and/or 

sales of consumer fireworks only; 

ii. using the Mark or any variation of the word "PREDATOR" 

specifically including, but not limited to, any term that includes "PREDATOR " or on 

the Internet, as a webpage, domain name, in meta tags, or social media account names, 

or otherwise engaging in acts or conduct that would cause confusion as to the source, 

sponsorship, or affiliation of Defendants with regard to consumer fireworks only; 

iii. diluting, blurring, passing off, or falsely designating the origin of the 

PREDATOR Mark on consumer fireworks and from further injuring Plaintiff’s 

goodwill and reputation; 

iv. engaging in unfair methods of competition with Plaintiff; 

v. doing any other act or thing likely to induce the belief that 

Defendants' businesses, services, or products are in any way connected with, 

sponsored, affiliated, licensed, or endorsed by Plaintiff; 

(B) preliminary and permanently ordering and directing Defendants to take 

any and all action necessary to remove any and all of Defendants' references to the 

PREDATOR Mark or any variation of the term "PREDATOR," in connection with their 

promotion, marketing, advertising, and/or sales of with regard to consumer fireworks 

products; 

(C) serve upon Plaintiffs, within thirty days after service of any injunction, a report in writing, 

under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have complied with 

the injunction; 
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(D) awarding Plaintiff, in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Defendants' 

profits, damages sustained by Plaintiff and three times such amounts as a result of Defendants' 

willful wrongful actions, including the infringement of federally-registered trademarks, 

infringement of common law rights, false designation of origin, trademark dilution, and employing 

unfair methods of competing with Plaintiff; 

(E) awarding Plaintiff interest, costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred 

in connection with this action; 

(F) awarding Plaintiffs such other and further relief as this Court may deem to 

be just. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

       Brooke| Stevens, P.C.     

       /s/ John H. Brooke  

      John H. Brooke #4234-18 

      112 E. Gilbert Street 

      Muncie, IN 47305 

      765-741-1375   

      jbrooke@brooke-stevens.com  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury, pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, as to all issues in this lawsuit.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

       Brooke| Stevens, P.C.     

       /s/ John H. Brooke  
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